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McGREGOR W. SCOTT
United States Attorney
LAURA D. WITHERS
Assistant United States Attorney
2500 Tulare Street, Suite 4401
Fresno, CA9372l
Telephone: (559) 497-4000
Facsimile: (559) 497-4099

Attorneys for Plaintiff
United States of America

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

v.

JEFFREY SCOTT HEDGES,

Defendant.

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CASE NO.

18 U.S.C. $ 1343 -WIRE FRAUD (21 Counts); 18

U.S.C. $$ 1957 and2 - MONEY LAUNDERING (1

count); 18 U.S.C. $$ 981(aX1XC), 982(a)(1),28
U.S.C. $ 2a61(c) - CRIMINAL FORFEITURE

INDICTMENT

couNTS oNE THROUGH TWENTY-ONE: [18 U.S.C. $ 1343 - Wire Fraud]

The Grand Jury charges:

JEFFREY SCOTT HEDGES,

defendant herein, as follows:

L INTRODUCTION

1. At all relevant times, defendant JEFFREY SCOTT IIEDGES was a resident of Fresno

County, State and Eastern District of California.

2. HEDGES owned and operated West Coast Chassis, LLC located in Fresno County.

Defendant HEDGES, through his business, purportedly restored classic cars and manufactured custom

car frames and car chassis to modernize classic cars.

IL SCHEME TO DEFRAUD:

3. From approximately in or about November 2015 and continuing until in or about January
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2019, within the State and Eastern District of California and elsewhere, defendant JEFFREY SCOTT

HEDGES knowingly devised, intended to devise, participated in, and executed a material scheme and

artifice to defraud individuals of their mouey and property, and to obtain money and property from

individuals by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises.

III. MANNER AND MEANS:

4. The scheme to defraud was carried out using, among others, the following manner and

means:

5. HEDGES advertised his business and solicited customers by various means, including

online advertisements and text and email communications, to entrust him with the restoration of classic

cars.

6. After HEDGES' prospective customers responded to his advertisements for classic car

restoration work, TIEDGES would propose to the customers terms and timing for the transactions.

HEDGES typically negotiated these terms with customers via text message or email message. At

various times, HEDGES then entered into contracts with customers in which he falsely and fraudulently

represented that he would render restoration services and provide classic car parts for their vehicle.

7. Defendant HEDGES induced customers to pay him money based on materially false and

fraudulent representations that the money would be used to restore classic cars for the customers.

8. At times, defendant IIEDGES also induced customers to send him classic car parts for

purported use in the customers' restoration projects, based on materially false and fraudulent

representations that he would use the cart parts for the customers' project.

9. In many instances, defendant HEDGES instead used the money collected from customers

for his personal and business expenses, without the customers' knowledge or authorization.

10. When customers would inquire regarding delays in the promised work, HEDGES

provided customers with inconsistent, conflicting explanations and excuses concerning the inability to

timely complete the car projects and the inability to return the money paid and parts provided to

customers who requested such a return. fmDGES' false explanations and excuses lulled customers into

believing HEDGES' representations and delayed the discovery of TIEDGES' scheme to defraud. In
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certain cases, HEDGES' claimed explanations and excuses also induced investors to provide additional

money to HEDGES.

11. ffiDGES frequently would ultimately fail to complete the promised projects and fail to

deliver projects that he had falsely claimed were completed.

12. At various times, HEDGES would also provide customers a different product than the

one promised. For example, in exchange for payment, HEDGES promised a customer a custom car

chassis with various specific features. Instead, HEDGES delivered a rusted car frame to the customer

that did not have various specific features that were promised.

13. In many instances, customers sent money to TIEDGES through financial institutions

outside the State of California, through financial institutions inside the State of California that processed

the funds by interstate wires, and via the Fedwke systern, to bank accounts located in Fresno, California

to which defendant HEDGES had access and over which he had control.

14. At all times, in carrying out the scheme, defendant IIEDGES acted with intent to defraud.

During the course of the scheme, the defendant defrauded customers of more than $645,000 based on his

material false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises.

IV. USE OF WIRE TRANSMISSION:

15. On or about the dates set forth below, in the State and Eastern District of California and

elsewhere, for the purpose of executing the aforementioned scheme and artifice to defraud, defendant

JEFFREY SCOTT HEDGES knowingly transmitted and caused to be transmitted by means of wire and

radio communication in interstate and foreign corlm€rce, the following writings, signs, signals, pictures,

and sounds:
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Count Approximate
Date of Wire

Description Sender Receiver

I 09to6l20t7 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $10,859.37 fromJ.P.

Morgan Chase, from bank account
number xxxxxx1301, in Kirkland,

Washington to Navy Federal
Credit Union, bank account

number xxxxxx5214, in Fresno,
California

A.N. of Kirkland,
Washington

WCC Pro
Touring, on

behalf ofJeffrey
Scott Hedges

2 09t28t2017 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $13,300.40 from J.P.

Morgan Chase, from bank account
number xxxxxx1301, in Kirkland,

Washington to Navy Federal
Credit Union, bank account

number xxxxxx5214, in Fresno,
California

A.N. of Kirkland,
Washington

WCC Pro
Touring, on

behalf of Jeffrey
Scott Hedges

3 tonU20t7 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $7,323.68 fromJ.P.

Morgan Chase, from bank account
number xxxxxxl30l, in Kirkland,

Washington to Navy Federal
Credit Union, bank account

number xxxxxx52l4, in Fresno,
California

A.N. of Kirkland,
Washington

WCC Pro
Touring, on

behalf of Jeffrey
Scott Hedges

4 02n6t2016 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $15,455.90 fromBank
of America, from bank account

number xxxx xxxx 8823, in
Huntington Beach, California to
Citibank, bank account number

xxxxx6275, in Fresno, California,
processed through, among other

locations. Richardson. Texas

Flowe Nursing
Anesthesia, Inc.,
on behalf of C.F.,

of Huntington
Beach, California

West Cost
Chassis LLC, on
behalf of Jeffrey

Scott Hedges

5 03n8t20r6 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $17,030 fromBank of

America, from bank account
number xxxx xxxx 8823, in

Huntington Beach, California to
Citibank, bank account number

xxxxx6275, in Fresno, California,
processed through, among other

locations, Richardson. Texas

Flowe Nursing
Anesthesia, Inc.,
on behalf of C.F.,

of Huntington
Beach, California

West Cost
Chassis LLC, on
behalf of Jeffrey

Scott Hedges

6 04n8t2016 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $10,000 from Bank of

America, from bank account
number xxxx xxxx 8823, in

Huntington Beach, California to
Citibank, bank account number

xxxxx6275, in Fresno, California,
processed through, among other

locations, Richardson, Texas

Flowe Nursing
Anesthesia, Inc.,
on behalf of C.F.,

of Huntington
Beach, California

West Cost
Chassis LLC, on
behalf of Jeffrey

Scott Hedges
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7 04t26t2016 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $4,947 from Bank of

America, from bank account
number xxxx xxxx 8823, in

Huntington Beach, California to
Citibank, bank account number

xxxxx6275, in Fresno, California,
processed through, among other

locations. Richardson. Texas

Flowe Nursing
Anesthesia, Inc.,
on behalf of C.F.,

of Huntington
Beach, California

West Cost
Chassis LLC, on
behalf of Jeffrey

Scott Hedges

8 06t0U20t6 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $10,760 fromBank of

America, from bank account
number xxxx xxxx 8823, in

Huntington Beach, California to
Citibank, bank account number

xxxxx6275, in Fresno, California,
processed through, among other
locations. Kansas Citv. Missouri

Flowe Nursing
Anesthesia, Inc.,
on behalf of C.F.,

of Huntington
Beach, California

West Cost
Chassis LLC, on
behalf of Jeffrey

Scott Hedges

I o2to7t20r1 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $5,000 from Citizens

Bank, from bank account number
xxxxxx8672, in Londonderry,
New Hampshire to Compass
Bank, bank account number

xxxxxx9563. in Fresno. California

D.J.M. of
Londonderry,

New Hampshire

West Coast
Chasis LLC, on
behalf of Jeffrey

Scott Hedges

t0 ozt14t20t7 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $13,000 from Citizens
Bank, from bank account number

xxxxxx8672, in Londonderry,
New Hampshire to Compass
Bank, bank account number

xxxxxx9563. in Fresno. California

D.J.M. of
Londonderry,

New Hampshire

West Coast
Chasis LLC, on
behalf of Jeffrey

Scott Hedges

11 02t2312017 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $5,126 from Citizens

Bank, from bank account number
xxxxxx8672, in Londonderry,
New Hampshire to Compass
Bank, bank account number

xxxxxx9563. in Fresno. California

D.J.M. of
Londonderry,

New Hampshire

West Coast
Chasis LLC, on
behalf of Jeffrey

Scott Hedges

t2 04l2U2017 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $25,000 from Inwood

National Bank, from bank account
number xxx3038, in Cedar Hill,
Texas, to Compass Bank, bank

account number xxxxxx9563, in
Fresno, California

J.E.S. of Cedar
Hill, Texas

West Coast
Chasis LLC, on
behalf of Jeffrey

Scott Hedges

t3 05to2t20t7 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $21,215 from Inwood

National Bank, from bank account
number xxx3038, in Cedar Hill,
Texas, to Compass Bank, bank

account number xxxxxx9206, in
Fresno. California

J.E.S. of Cedar
Hill, Texas

Jeff Hedges
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I4 0U26t2018 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $10,000 fromBank of

America, from bank account
number xxxxxxxx9869, in

Oakland Park, Kansas, to Navy
Federal Credit Union, bank

account number xxxxxxO321, in
Fresno. California

S.D. of Overland
Park, Kansas

WCC Pro
Touring, on

behalf of Jeffrey
Scott Hedges

t5 02toU20t8 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $5,000 from Bank of

America, from bank account
number xxxxxxxx9869, in

Oakland Park, Kansas, to Navy
Federal Credit Union, bank

account number xxxxxx0321, in
Fresno. California

S.D. of Overland
Park, Kansas

WCC Pro
louflng, on

behalf of Jeffrey
Scott Hedges

16 02t05t2018 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $5,000 from Bank of

America, from bank account
number xxxxxxxx9869, in

Oakland Park, Kansas, to Navy
Federal Credit Union, bank

account number xxxxxx0321, in
Fresno. California

S.D. of Overland
Park, Kansas

WCC Pro
Touring, on

behalf of Jeffrey
Scott Hedges

t7 02t22t2018 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $5,000 from Bank of

America, from bank account
number xxxxxxxx9869, in
Oakland Park, Kansas, to

Citibank, bank account number
xxxxxxx29S 1, in Fresno,

California

S.D. of Overland
Park, Kansas

A.H., on behalf
of Jeffrey Scott

Hedges

18 03t06t20r8 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $11,000 fromBank of

America, from bank account
number xxxxxxxx9869, in

Oakland Park, Kansas, to Navy
Federal Credit Union, bank

account number xxxxxx0321, in
Fresno. California

S.D. of Overland
Park, Kansas

WCC Pro
Touring, on

behalf of Jeffrey
Scott Hedges

t9 03t2612018 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $3,000 from Bank of

America, from bank account
number xxxxxxxx9869, in

Oakland Park, Kansas, to Navy
Federal Credit Union, bank

account number xxxxxxO321, in
Fresno. California

S.D. of Overland
Park, Kansas

WCC Pro
Touring, on

behalf of Jeffrey
Scott Hedges

6IuorcruBNr
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20 04n6t20t8 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $2,500 from Bank of

America, from bank account
number xxxxxxxx9869, in

Oakland Park, Kansas, to Navy
Federal Credit Union, bank

account number xxxxxx0321, in
Fresno. California

S.D. of Overland
Park, Kansas

WCC Pro
Touring, on

behalf of Jeffrey
Scott Hedges

2t 04t20t20t8 Wire transmission of monies in the
amount of $8,000 fromBank of

America, from bank account
number xxxxxxxx9869, in

Oakland Park, Kansas, to Navy
Federal Credit Union, bank

account number xxxxxx0321, in
Fresno. California

S.D. of Overland
Park, Kansas

WCC Pro
Touring, on

behalf of Jeffrey
Scott Hedges

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

coLrNT TWENTY-TWO: [18 U.S.C. $$ 1957, 2 - Money Laundering]

The Grand Jury further charges:

JEFFREY SCOTT TMDGES,

defendant herein, as follows:

16. Paragraphs I through 15 inclusive of Counts One through Twenty-One are fully

incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein

t7 . On or about May 2,2017 , in the State and Eastern District of California and elsewhere,

defendant JEFFERY SCOTT HEDGES did knowingly engage and attempt to engage in a monetary

transaction by, through, and to a financial institution, affecting interstate commerce, in criminally

derived property of a value greater than $10,000, to wit, the purchase of a cashier's check from Compass

Bank in the amount of $13,519.89 payable to J.P., which property having been derived from a specified

unlawful activity, that is Wire Fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343, all in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1957 and2.

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION: [18 U.S.C. $$ 981(aX1XC),982(aXl),28 U.S.C. $ 2a61(c) -
Criminal Forfeiturel

18. Upon conviction of one or more of the offenses alleged in Counts One through Twenty-

One of this Indictment, defendant JEFFREY SCOTT IIEDGES shall forfeit to the United States,

pursuant to l8 U.S.C. $ 981(aX1XC) and 28 U.S.C. $ 2461(c), all property, real and personal, which

INDICTMENT
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constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to such violations, including, but not limited to:

a. A sum of money equal to the amount of proceeds traceable to such offenses, for

which defendant is convicted.

19. Upon conviction of the offense alleged in Count Twenty-Two of this Indictment,

defendant JEfpRpY SCOTT HEDGES shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. $

982(a)(1), all property, real or personal, involved in such offenses, and any property traceable to such

property, including but not limited to the following:

a. A sum of money equal to the amount of money involved in the offenses, for

which defendant is convicted.

20. If any property subject to forfeiture as a result of the offenses alleged in Counts One

through Twenty-Two of this Indictment, for which defendant is convicted:

a. cannot be located upon the exercise ofdue diligence;

b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;

d. has been substantially diminished in value; or

e. has been commingled with other propety which cannot be divided without

difficulty;

it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. $ 2a61(c) and 18 U.S.C. $ 982(bX1),

incorporating 21 U.S.C. $ 853(p), to seek forfeiture of any other property of said defendant, up to the

value of the property subject to forfeiture.

McGREGOR W. SCOTT

KIHKE:SfffiRIFF

KIRK E. SHERRIFF
Assistant United States Attorney
Chief, Fresno Office

A TRUE BILL.

/s/ Signaurre on frle UAUSA

FOREPERSON
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IINII.ED STAITS DISTRICT COURT

Eastem District of Califumia

Ciminal Division

TI{E TJNIIED STATES OF AT{ERICA
y's'

JEFFREY SCOTT TIEDGES

INDIET}4ENT

VIOLATION(S): 18 U.S.C. $ 1343 - WIRE FRAUD; 18 U.S.C. $$ 1957

andz- MONEY LAUNDERING; 18 U.S.C. $$ 981(a)(lXC), 982(aX1), 28 U.S.C.

$ 2a61(c) - CRIMINAL FORFEITURE
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Uqited States v..Ieffrev Scott Hedses
Penalties for Indictment

Defendant
JEFFREY SCOTT HEDGES

COUNTS 1 ..21:

VIOLATION: 18 U.S.C. $ 1343 -Wire Fraud

PENALTIES: 20 years' imprisonment and/or $250,000 fine
. 3 years' supervised release

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT: $100 (mandatory on each count)

COUNT 22:

MOLATION: 18 U.S.C. $$ 1957,2 -MoneyLaundering

PENALTIES: 10 years' imprisonment and/or $250,000 fine

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT: $100 (mandatory on each count)

FORFEITT]RE ALLEGATION :

VIOLATION:

PENALTIES: As stated in the charging document
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